1983

Atlas Corporation v. National Growth Corporation, Et Al. and the Clovis National Bank and the Citizens Bank of Clovis : Brief of Appellants

NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal seeks a determination that a net profits interest owned by defendants-appellants continues to exist and to burden certain mining claims located in San Juan County, Utah.

PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

The action below was a quiet title action brought by Atlas Corporation ("Atlas") to determine the interests of various parties in certain mining claims (the "Claims"). The Clovis National Bank and The Citizens Bank of Clovis (the "Clovis Banks") own a fractional share of a net profits interest (the "Net Profits Interest") that was created and reserved when the Claims were conveyed to Atlas' predecessor-in-interest in 1957. On February 7, 1983, the district court granted Atlas' motion for summary judgment and subsequently entered findings, conclusions,

and judgment decreeing that the Net Profits Interest had ceased to exist in 1961. This appeal requires review of that summary judgment.

NATURE OF RELIEF REQUESTED ON APPEAL

The Clovis Banks request this Court to reverse the summary judgment and remand this case to the district court with directions to enter judgment on the Clovis Banks' cross-motion for summary judgment, ruling that the controlling instruments unambiguously provide that the Net Profits Interest continues to exist. Alternatively, the Court should rule that genuine issues of fact remain and remand for further discovery and trial.¹

INTRODUCTION

This case presents a story that has been repeated countless times in the development of mineral resources: A prospector stakes claims, discovers ore, and then conveys the claims to a larger operator possessing more adequate resources for developing and mining the claims. Because the value of the claims is necessarily uncertain, the prospector does not receive just a lump sum payment; rather, he retains a right to a percentage of the proceeds of the claims. The legal consequences of

¹On the basis of its ruling that the Clovis Banks have no interest in the Claims, the district court also dismissed the Clovis Banks' cross-claims against certain other defendants; and in the event that the summary judgment is reversed, such cross-claims should be reinstated.

type of transaction are well-established. Absent some agreement or act terminating the retained interest, the interest is perpetual and the owner of the interest is entitled to a percentage of proceeds from the claims whenever such proceeds may be received.

The present case follows this pattern closely. The claim owners, including the Clovis Banks' predecessor-in-interest, acquired the claims when the claims were thought to be of little or no value. Operating on a limited budget, they proceeded to discover a substantial ore body. They then took the claims to an established company, Atlas' predecessor-in-interest, to have the claims developed. An agreement was struck in which the owners agreed to contribute the claims to the venture and the established company agreed to contribute the resources necessary to develop the claims. As compensation for their contribution, the owners reserved the right to retain 40% of the net proceeds from production from the claims and the company was granted the right to receive the remaining 60%. The parties carefully defined the owner's net profits interest and reserved it from the claims when legal title to the claims was transferred to the larger company prior to the commencement of mining operations.

Mining of the claims was subsequently initiated but the owners received no return on their reserved 40% interest. The claims then lay idle for several years before being conveyed to Atlas. At this point, the present case begins to diverge from

the traditional pattern. First, the claims turned out to contain the richest ore body on the Colorado Plateau. This mine has now produced over 3,500,00 pounds of uranium concentrate from ore averaging 0.41% uranium oxide per ton and ultimately may yield as much as 6,000,000 pounds of concentrate. Atlas has, to date, received approximately \$150,000,000 for this concentrate.² Second, contrary to normal industry practice, the original claim owners and their successors, who contributed the claims to the project and who were to receive 40% of the profits from the claims, were not paid one additional penny for their interest. Moreover, under the district court's ruling, the original owners and their successors will not be entitled to any compensation out of further profits from the mine.

There is no indication that the parties intended the retained net profits interest to be less than a perpetual interest in land or to have characteristics different from those normally attributed to such an interest in the industry. Indeed, the instruments creating the interest set forth in tedious detail

²Fiscal 1982 was the most profitable year in Atlas' history. This record performance was attributed by Atlas to the Company's Mineral Division, the main business of which is selling uranium oxide and vanadium pentoxide produced from the Velvet Mine. In that year, the company repaid its long-term bank debt of \$28,233,000, its net worth increased 61%, the return on shareholders' equity was 60% and the company's working capital increased 33%. See Atlas Corp. 1982 Annual Report 1, 2 (June 30, 1982).

clusive, perpetual nature. Moreover, there is no policy in the law prohibiting the creation of a perpetual net profits interest in the mining context. Nevertheless, the district court ruled that a net profits interest is radically different from a royalty or mineral interest notwithstanding the fact that its decision would cut off the original claim owners--who were initially responsible for development of the claims--and their successors from any share of the profits from the mine. The court then concluded that, although the validity of the interest had remained undisputed for over 25 years and through 2 1/2 years of the present trial, the interest had actually terminated in 1961, only four years after its creation.

The court's ruling was detailed and lengthy and included numerous factual determinations. As a result, a review of that ruling requires a detailed rehearsal of the history of the net profits interest and the facts of the case.

FACTS

1. Reservation of the Net Profits Interest (1957).

In early 1957, Hez Abernathy, Lee Merrill, and Bud Mersfelder (the "Interest Owners") owned 38 unpatented mining claims known as the Velvet and Royal Flush claims. On April 18, 1957, these three owners entered into an Agreement (the

"Agreement").³ with Kerr-McGee Industries, Inc. ("Kerr-McGee") and Mercury Uranium and Oil Company ("Mercury"). In the Agreement, the Interest Owners and Kerr-McGee and Mercury set out in detail their respective ownership interests in the Claims. The parties agreed that legal title to the Claims would be transferred to Kerr-McGee and Mercury subject to the reservation of the Net Profits Interest to the Interest Owners. On the same day, the parties also executed an Operating Agreement, see A-2 (which, taken with the Agreement are collectively called the "Agreements") that set forth the various rights and obligations of the parties and governed generally the working relationship of the various interests defined in the Agreement.

In accordance with these Agreements, the Interest Owners conveyed the Claims to Kerr-McGee and Mercury by a deed dated June 7, 1957 (the "Deed"). See A-3. Because of the complexity and length of the accounting procedure used to calculate the interests created in the Agreement, the Interest Owners' reserved rights were not set out in detail in the Deed.

³For the Court's convenience, the Clovis Banks have included an Appendix containing the most pertinent or frequently cited documents from the record. The Agreement is designated as A-1. Documents contained in the Appendix are cited as their Appendix number, e.g., A-1 at 3. Otherwise, citations refer to pages in the Clerk's Record, e.g., Transcript of Hearing at 117, R. 2354. For brevity, citations are in most instances not given for facts which are not in dispute.

their rights were incorporated into and reserved from the Deed by making the Deed on its face expressly "subject to the terms, covenants and conditions contained in that certain Agreement dated the 18th day of April, 1957, by and between the parties hereto." A-3 at 2. In this way, the rights of the Interest Owners were incorporated into the Deed and were afforded the protections of the Utah recording statutes when the Deed was subsequently recorded.

Two different provisions of the Agreements are critical for purposes of this appeal. The first provision is found in the sections in each Agreement which provide, as the Operating Agreement states in the opening recitals, that "said Interest Owners have reserved unto themselves an undivided net profits interest . . . in and to the net profits from all ores mined, saved, removed and sold from said claims" A-2 at 1. The second important provision is contained in Section 1 of the Operating Agreement. This Section defines the duration of the Agreements and the Net Profits Interest: "[T]his Agreement shall be in full force and effect so long as any of the mining claims . . . are in force and effect." A-2 at 2.

2. The Bardon Shaft Operation (1957-1961).

Kerr-McGee commenced exploration of the Claims and, after discovering a commercial ore deposit, began a mining operation. The mine, known as the Bardon Shaft, was operated

until 1960. During this period, Kerr-McGee acquired the interest that had been conveyed to Mercury.

In late 1960, Kerr-McGee announced its intention to abandon the Bardon Shaft. Pursuant to the requirements of Section V of the Operating Agreement, providing for "Abandonment of Mines," see A-2 at 5-6, Kerr-McGee notified each of the Interest Owners of the proposed abandonment, describing in metes and bounds the specific property to be abandoned--which property amounted to only 7.4 acres, an extremely small portion of the almost 700 acres covered by the Claims--and offered the Interest Owners the option of purchasing the Bardon Shaft property. See Letter from Kerr-McGee to Interest Owners (Dec. 19, 1960), R. 1606-07. One of the Interest Owners, Bud Mersfelder, expressed interest, but declined to buy the property after being informed of Kerr-McGee's proposed \$50,000 purchase price. See Letter from Kerr-McGee to P. G. Mersfelder (Jan. 3, 1961), R. 1451.

3. The Yucca Litigation (1961-1968).

After abandoning the Bardon Shaft, Kerr-McGee intended to conduct further exploration and mining. See Letter from R. T. Zitting, Kerr-McGee's Mineral Exploration Manager, to Wm. Dean McDougald (May 9, 1962), R. 1882. There was, in fact, good reason to expect that additional ore would be found on the Claims. Before 1960, Kerr-McGee's drillers, including Bud Mersfelder, who was one of the Interest Owners, had already

... into a part of the ore body which Atlas has subsequently
... See Deposition of William McDougald at 75(4)-77(10),
116(21) -117(19), R. 447-49, 488-89. The evidence further
suggests that both the existence of proven ore reserves and "the
potential for discovery of a major sized ore body" to the south-
east of the Bardon Mine were evident at that time.⁴

Kerr-McGee's planned operations were stalled by the
commencement of litigation seeking an accounting of the proceeds
from the Bardon Shaft operation.⁵ Thus, in mid-1962, Kerr-
McGee stated:

Our present plans for the Velvet Group are to
do some additional exploration drilling as
soon as the [accounting] difficulties can be
resolved. . . . We have such a project
approved by management with only the reserva-
tion that we must straighten out our account-
ing problems before undertaking the work.

⁴The existence of such proven and potential ore is expressly
recognized in a 1968 report prepared by Climax Corporation, a
prospective buyer of the Claims. Letter and Outline of Property
Examination, R. 2124-27. Because the report was not produced by
Atlas until after summary judgment had been granted, the Clovis
Banks had no opportunity to discover the circumstances sur-
rounding the preparation of the report. However, there is no
indication that Climax itself ever performed any exploration on
the Claims. Thus, it is probable that the information reflected
on the report was obtained by Climax from Kerr-McGee or was
common knowledge to those familiar with the history of the
Claims. Moreover, because there is no evidence of any explora-
tion between 1961 and 1968, the Climax report evidently reflects
facts known from the earlier exploration.

⁵Yucca Mining and Petroleum Co. v. Kerr-McGee Oil Indus., Inc.,
Civ. No. 1939 (Seventh Judicial Dist., San Juan Co., Utah).

Letter from R. T. Zitting, Kerr-McGee's Mineral Exploration Manager, to Wm. Dean McDougald (May 9, 1982), R. 1882. The Yucca litigation continued, however, until 1968.

4. The Velvet Mine (1978).

During and following the Yucca litigation, the faces changed: The Clovis Banks acquired Hez Abernathy's portion of the Net Profits Interest in 1967, see Deed of Mining Claims, R. 1352, while ownership of the Claims passed to Foote Mineral Company in 1970 and to Atlas in 1977. Atlas resumed exploration and, as has been previously predicted, a major ore body was discovered to the southeast of the Bardon Mine. See Affidavit of Carl Dixon, R. 1453-55.

Production of ore from Atlas' mine, known as the Velvet Mine, began in 1978. The Velvet Mine has proven to be the richest source of high grade uranium ore in the entire Colorado Plateau region.

5. The Present Litigation; the Continuing Validity of the Net Profits Interest is Conceded (1979-1982).

After acquiring the Claims, Atlas obtained a title opinion from the Denver law firm of Davis, Graham and Stubbs, Atlas' counsel in this case. Title Opinion, R. 1859-64. Following a lengthy and careful analysis, that opinion concluded that "a forty percent net profits interest (or, possibly a 40 percent carried working interest) in the Subject Claims currently exists and would be applicable to any future production from

Claims." Id. at 25, R. 1864 (emphasis supplied). Thus, Atlas filed this lawsuit asking for a determination of the rights of numerous claimants, Atlas did not contend that the Net Profits Interest had terminated or expired. On the contrary, Atlas repeatedly conceded that the Net Profits Interest continued to exist and to burden the Claims.⁶

In fact, the continuing validity of the Agreements and the Net Profits Interest was universally conceded. Kerr-McGee, the original operator of the Claims and a party to this lawsuit, was unequivocal in asserting the continued existence of the Operating Agreement. Kerr-McGee Corp. Memorandum at 4, R. 963. See pp. 62-63, infra. The district court similarly assumed that the Agreements were still effective. For instance, when the Clovis Banks and others sought to enforce a provision of the Operating Agreement requiring monthly reports by the operator,

⁶Atlas' Reply to Clovis Banks' counterclaim stated, for instance: "ATLAS admits that the Subject Claims are subject to the 40% Net Profits Interest." Reply of Atlas at 2 ¶1, R. 102 (emphasis added). The Reply further stated: "ATLAS admits that it is the operator of the Subject Claims under the April 18 Operating Agreement. . . ." Id. at 3 ¶6, R. 103. Indeed, even after the litigation had been in progress for two-and-a-half years, and substantial discovery had been completed, Atlas reiterated its position in a pre-trial statement: "ATLAS admits that the SUBJECT CLAIMS are subject to a net profits interest defined in paragraph I.6.DD above as the 40% NET PROFITS INTEREST. . . ." Statement of Plaintiff Atlas Corp. at 33 ¶39, R. 825. Atlas' other admissions of the existence of the Net Profits Interest are numerous, and it would be redundant to list them.

the court's ruling assumed the continuing effectiveness of that agreement and expressly described Atlas as the operator under such agreement. Decision of the Court at 1-2, R. 971-72.

6. Atlas Reverses Its Position (September 1982 - Present).

In a subsequent pretrial statement, Atlas reversed its position⁷ and contended that the Agreements and the Net Profits Interest had been terminated or abandoned while Kerr-McGee still owned the Claims. Statement of Plaintiff Atlas Corp. at 8-9, R. 1238-39.⁸ Although the district court had earlier issued rulings based upon the unqualified assumption that the Operating Agreement was still in force, at a hearing held less than two months before the scheduled trial date, the court indicated a desire to rethink its position,⁹ and invited Atlas to make a

⁷Even after reversing its positions vis-a-vis the Clovis Banks, Atlas continued to refer, without apparent qualification, to the Net Profits Interest as an existing interest in dealing with other parties. Stipulation and Joint Motion of Atlas and Mersfelders at 1-3, R. 1260-62.

⁸This dramatic reversal was not based on any facts learned through discovery; indeed, although all of the Interest Owners, as well as a number of other persons involved in the earlier transactions had been deposed, those persons were not directly asked whether they had intended or understood the Net Profits Interest to continue after completion of the Bardon Shaft operation. Like the parties to this action, those persons seemed to assume without question that the Net Profits Interest was still in existence.

⁹In the course of a lengthy hearing on December 14, 1982 at which complicated questions were raised involving revenue

presenting the issue. Transcript of December 14, 1982
Hearing at 118-19, R. 2355-56.

Atlas accepted this invitation and, in January 1983,
moved for summary judgment. In response, the Clovis Banks asked
the court to rule that the Net Profits Interest was still in
effect. At the same time, depositions of all the original
Interest Owners and of other persons intimately involved in the
early transactions were scheduled¹⁰ to explore more directly

computation methods, deduction of various claimed charges,
calculation of the parties' respective fractional shares in the
Net Profits Interest, and discovery matters, the court indicated
that it was "trying to resolve in my own mind as to whether or
not [the Agreements and the June 7, 1957 deed] would create an
interest that ran with the land. Because if it did, boy--It's
created all these problems if it did." Transcript of December
14, 1982 Hearing at 117, R. 2354. Further observing that "if I
were to say that it did not, then I'm--the balance of our lawsuit
is probably over and you guys can get on up to the Supreme Court
and see whether I'm right or not." Id. at 118, R. 2355.

¹⁰The importance of these further depositions cannot be over-
emphasized. Although the district court purported to glean the
"intent" of the parties to the agreements from their actions, see
Transcript of February 8, 1983 Hearing at 27, R. 2394, it ignored
such direct statements of intent as that provided by Richard T.
Zitting, one of the key players in all of the transactions
involving the Claims:

I do not believe, and to the best of my know-
ledge the other parties to the 1957 agreements
did not believe, that the 40% Net Profits
Interest was intended to apply only to the ore
body that was mined through the Bardon Shaft.
I did not have any intent or understanding dur-
ing the 1957 negotiations or thereafter that
the 40% Net Profits Interest would be limited
to one ore body or that it would terminate fol-

their understanding of the continuing nature of the interest. See Stipulation and Joint Motion, R. 1739; Notices of Depositions, R. 1751, 1757a, 1764. However, the district court granted summary judgment before those depositions could be taken.

7. Basis of the District Court's Ruling.

The district court construed the Agreements and the Deed as creating a net profits interest that was binding on Kerr-McGee and its successors so long as the Agreements themselves remained in effect.¹¹ However, the court concluded that the parties had intended the Agreements to create a "profit

lowing closing of the Bardon Shaft.

Affidavit of Richard T. Zitting at 2, R. 1773. The entire Affidavit is set out at pages 61 and 62, infra.

¹¹Perhaps the clearest expression of this reasoning was given in Conclusion 45, in which the court rejected the Clovis Banks' understanding of the language of Section VIII of the Operating Agreement providing that "[a]ll sales made by either Kermac or Mercury or their successors in interest shall be subject to the terms, covenants, and conditions of the Agreement. . . ." The court explained:

The Court concludes that the only logical and meaningful way to read Section VIII of the OPERATING AGREEMENT is that all of its terms, conditions and covenants would bind KERR-McGEE or MERCURY or their respective successors, but only so long as mining operations were on-going and only so long as the OPERATING AGREEMENT remains in effect. When the purpose of the OPERATING AGREEMENT was served, it terminated. Section VIII terminated as well, and the SUBJECT CLAIMS were not burdened.

Findings and Conclusions ¶45, R. 2105-06 (emphasis in original).

... arrangement" limited to a "specific mining venture." Findings and Conclusions ¶41, R. 2100. Although it offered no definition of the term "specific mining venture," the court ruled that the "mining venture" had ended upon completion of the Bardon Shaft operation, that the Agreements had therefore terminated at that time, and that the Net Profits Interest had similarly terminated.

ARGUMENT

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