1983

Atlas Corporation v. National Growth Corporation, Et Al. and the Clovis National Bank and the Citizens Bank of Clovis : Brief of The Plaintiff- Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AND BECAUSE ATLAS IS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

I. ATLAS HAS NO OBLIGATION TO SHARE PROFITS WITH THE CLOVIS BANKS BECAUSE FULL PERFORMANCE OF THE AGREEMENTS DISCHARGED THAT OBLIGATION MANY YEARS AGO.

The AGREEMENTS established a mining venture for the purpose of exploring, and, if warranted, developing and mining the SUBJECT CLAIMS. The AGREEMENTS set in motion a chain of events commencing with exploration and concluding with the

without giving any citation to the Record. ATLAS did give good consideration for the lease and conveyance.

^{52/} SUMMARY JUDGMENT (v.15, p.2092); DEARTH AFFIDAVIT at ¶¶ 8, 12, 14-16 (v.13, pp.1579-80); DEARTH DEPOSITION (v.7, pp.1033-35, 1038-39, 1046-49, 1055); LAHUSEN AFFIDAVIT (v.11, p.1582); DIXON AFFIDAVIT (v.12, pp.1454-55).

^{53/} SUMMARY JUDGMENT (v.15, p.2092); DEARTH AFFIDAVIT at ¶¶ 13, 15 and 16 (v.7, pp.1579-80); LAHUSEN AFFIDAVIT at ¶ 5 (v.13, p.1582); DIXON AFFIDAVIT (v.12, pp.1454-55).

ing up of mining operations. Pursuant to the AGREEMENTS, exploration commenced in 1957, and commercial ore was discovered, developed, mined, and exhausted between 1957 and 1961. KERR-McGEE performed all of the obligations of the AGREEMENTS. These AGREEMENTS have no further purpose, and all rights and obligations thereunder have been extinguished and discharged.

A. The CLOVIS BANKS' Predecessor in 1957 Conveyed to KERR-McGEE and MERCURY all of His Right, Title and Interest in the SUBJECT CLAIMS, Subject Only to the Performance of Certain Obligations Provided in the AGREEMENTS.

The CLOVIS BANKS go to great lengths in their brief to suggest that the right to share in net profits was a typical reservation of a mineral or similar real property interest in the SUBJECT CLAIMS; that this net profits interest was the sole, or at least the primary, consideration for the conveyance; and that the interest has well-recognized attributes, including perpetual duration. In fact, these allegations badly distort the transaction.

The SALES AGREEMENT was a contract between KERR-McGEE and MERCURY and the INTEREST OWNERS for the purchase and sale of the SUBJECT CLAIMS.^{54/} The SALES AGREEMENT provided that,

^{54/} See SALES AGREEMENT at 1st full ¶ on p.2:

WHEREAS, Sellers are desirous of selling to Buyers all their said undivided right, title and interest in and to said claims and Buyers are willing to purchase the same

(con't.)

upon delivery of the JUNE 7 DEED, KERR-McGEE and MERCURY would assume the burden of the 10% BOWEN ROYALTY 55/ and would make a very substantial cash payment to the INTEREST OWNERS for their then unproven claims.56/ In addition, following the delivery of the JUNE 7 DEED, as further consideration for the sale and purchase, KERR-McGEE and MERCURY were to perform certain affirmative obligations leading to the development of the SUBJECT CLAIMS.57/ The parties to the SALES AGREEMENT agreed to ". . . execute an agreement with respect to Buyers' operations on said claims. . . ." and provided that such agreement was attached to the SALES AGREEMENT and made a part thereof for all purposes.58/ That agreement was the OPERATING AGREEMENT.59/

subject to the terms, conditions, and provisions herein provided. (v.13, p.1537.)

See also SALES AGREEMENT at Sections 5 and 9 (v.13, pp.1539-40, 1542-43).

55/ See SALES AGREEMENT at Section 4 (v.13, p.1539).

56/ \$50,000 in cash to be paid by KERR-McGEE, \$50,000 in cash to be paid by MERCURY and 50,000 shares of MERCURY common stock, guaranteed at \$1.00 per share, to be delivered by MERCURY. See SALES AGREEMENT at Section 3 (v.13, pp.1538-39).

57/ Judge Bunnell expressed this point in his ruling in the FEBRUARY 8 TRANSCRIPT (v.18, p.2395).

58/ See SALES AGREEMENT at Section 8 (v.13, p.1542).

59/ See Judge Bunnell's explanation in the FEBRUARY 8 TRANSCRIPT (v.18, p.2395).

The INTEREST OWNERS did not reserve or carve out a standing, independent royalty or other perpetual interest when they sold the SUBJECT CLAIMS. Instead, the JUNE 7 DEED contained the following language:

This conveyance is made subject to the terms, covenants and conditions contained in that certain agreement dated the 18th day of April, 1957, by and between the parties hereto.^{60/}

The JUNE 7 DEED says nothing about the INTEREST OWNERS' rights to share profits. Moreover, when one peruses the SALES AGREEMENT, to which the JUNE 7 DEED refers, and the OPERATING AGREEMENT, to which the SALES AGREEMENT refers, one cannot find any "reserved" royalty or any other interest. Instead, one finds that the provisions covering profit sharing are inseparable from the rest of the AGREEMENTS.^{61/} The chance to share profits does not stand alone. It is in no way independent of the AGREEMENTS.

Upon the consummation of the purchase and sale of the SUBJECT CLAIMS, the INTEREST OWNERS were entitled to receive \$100,000 in cash, \$50,000 worth of stock and to enforce the performance of all the terms of the OPERATING AGREEMENT so long as it remained in effect. However, once the OPERATING AGREEMENT expired, terminated, or was fully performed, the

^{60/} JUNE 7 DEED (v.13, p.1533).

^{61/} See SALES AGREEMENT at Section 6 (v.13, 1540-41); OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section III (v.13, pp.1548-49).

INTEREST OWNERS had no further rights. Therefore, to determine whether the CLOVIS BANKS now have any right to share in ATLAS' profits one must look, first, to the OPERATING AGREEMENT to ascertain the performance to which the INTEREST OWNERS were entitled and, second, to the undisputed facts to ascertain whether the INTEREST OWNERS received the performance to which they were entitled.^{62/}

B. The AGREEMENTS Were Limited in Duration to the Time for Performance of Obligations Undertaken Therein.

The AGREEMENTS are not perpetual; they are limited in duration. The OPERATING AGREEMENT contains two kinds of limitations which would determine their otherwise indefinite duration. The first limitation is found in Section I of the OPERATING AGREEMENT.^{63/} Had the United States or some rival locator otherwise obtained a determination that the SUBJECT CLAIMS were invalid, the duration of the AGREEMENTS would have been determined. All further rights thereunder would have been extinguished, and all obligations would have been discharged, even though KERR-McGEE might not have commenced exploration or otherwise performed any or all of the obligations under the OPERATING AGREEMENT.

^{62/} Judge Bunnell articulated point well in his oral ruling in the FEBRUARY 8 TRANSCRIPT (v.13, pp.2395-96).

^{63/} See OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section I (v.13, p.1547).

The second limitation is performance. At any time the parties' obligations are fully performed, the AGREEMENTS have no further purpose, and the parties have no further rights or obligations under the AGREEMENTS.^{64/}

1. The purpose of the AGREEMENTS was to create a mining venture, and the duration of the AGREEMENTS, though originally indefinite, becomes definite upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of specified conditions precedent.

The AGREEMENTS themselves provide many limitations on their duration.^{65/} The TRIAL COURT properly reached this conclusion upon a construction of the AGREEMENTS themselves, without reference to any extrinsic evidence.^{66/}

The purpose of the SALES AGREEMENT was to provide for the purchase and sale of the SUBJECT CLAIMS. Because the purpose of the OPERATING AGREEMENT was to govern the performance by KERR-McGEE and MERCURY thereafter,^{67/} it is the performance of the obligations under the OPERATING AGREEMENT that determines the duration.

^{64/} Pacific-Wyoming Oil Co. v. Carter Oil Co., 226 P.2d 193 (Wyo. 1924); 5A A. Corbin, The Law of Contracts § 1230 (1964), Restatement (Second) of Contracts, § 234 (1981).

^{65/} See SUMMARY JUDGMENT ¶ 40 (v.15, pp.2098-99). FEBRUARY 8 TRANSCRIPT (v.18, pp.2396-2400).

^{66/} Id.

^{67/} SALES AGREEMENT at Section 8 (v.13, p.1542); See FEBRUARY 8 TRANSCRIPT (v.18, pp.2394-96).

The duty to perform was generally imposed upon KERR-McGEE, as Operator.^{68/} Section III of the OPERATING AGREEMENT defines the only obligation of KERR-McGEE and MERCURY to share net profits with the INTEREST OWNERS, and SECTION III shows that the obligations of KERR-McGEE were sequential and conditional, not absolute. KERR-McGEE's duty to perform at each step depended on whether the condition immediately preceding the duty had been satisfied.^{69/} If the condition precedent failed, KERR-McGEE's obligations were discharged completely. If the condition precedent was satisfied, KERR-McGEE was obliged to perform further.

Taking the first step was KERR-McGEE's only unconditional obligation. KERR-McGEE agreed unconditionally to explore the SUBJECT CLAIMS sufficiently, in its opinion, to test them adequately for the presence of commercial ore deposits.^{70/} If KERR-McGEE performed its step-one exploration

^{68/} See OPERATING AGREEMENT at p.1, final ¶, and Section II (v.13, pp.1546-47).

^{69/} In Section III of the OPERATING AGREEMENT each obligation is to be performed "in the event of," or "from and after the time" or "after" a specified preceding condition has been satisfied (v.13, pp.1548-49).

^{70/} OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section III (v.13, p.1548):

It is understood and agreed that Kermac (KERR-McGEE), as Operator, at its sole cost and expense, with reasonable diligence will commence and diligently prosecute exploration and other activities and operations upon the lands covered by said claims sufficient in its opinion to adequately

(con't.)

tions, but discovered no commercial ore, KERR-McGEE
have completely performed the OPERATING AGREEMENT. It
could have been discharged, because step two was to be
performed only upon the condition that commercial ore was
discovered.^{71/} There was nothing further required of KERR-
McGEE. However, if the step-one exploration resulted in the
discovery of commercial ore, KERR-McGEE was required to take
step two: to define and develop the ore body indicated by the
discovery.

If the definition and development did not result in a
commercially attractive ore body, KERR-McGEE was not obliged
to proceed further because step three was to be undertaken
only upon the condition that KERR-McGEE satisfied itself that
the ore body was commercially viable.^{72/} However, if the

test the same for the presence of
commercial ore deposits. . . .

^{71/} OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section III (v.13, p.1548):

In the event of the discovery of commercial
ore Operator shall proceed to define and
develop the ore body indicated
thereby. . . .

See Judge Bunnell's explanation in the FEBRUARY 8 TRANSCRIPT
(v.18, pp.2396-97).

^{72/} OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section III (v.13, p.1548):

. . . and in the event the same shall be a
commercial ore body in Operator's opinion
sufficient to reasonably justify the mining
thereof, Operator, upon the completion of
defining and developing the ore body, with
reasonable diligence shall commence prepara-
tions for mining and for sinking a shaft and

(con't.)

performance of step two defined a commercial ore body sufficient to justify mining, KERR-McGEE was obliged to sink shaft and equip it, as step three.

If step three did not result in production of at least 25 tons of ore per day, KERR-McGEE was not obliged to proceed to step four, the calculation of net profits. Calculation of net profits depended upon achieving 25 tons per day capability.^{73/} If step three resulted in production capability of 25 tons of ore per day, KERR-McGEE was obliged to determine the net profits, if any, and was permitted to retain any net profits to a specified level.

with reasonable diligence will sink or cause to be sunk at a location to be determined by Operator a shaft, to a depth to mine said ore body, including the necessary equipment to sink and equip said shaft.

73/ OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section III (v.13, p.1548):

It is understood and agreed that from and after the time when the initial shaft and/or mine shall have been equipped by Operator to provide a capability for mining and producing twenty-five (25) tons or more of ore per day all other costs and expense incurred for the exploration, drilling, development, mining, operation and overhead of said mining claims shall be charged in accordance with the provisions hereof against the proceeds derived from production from said claims and shall be taken into account in determining net profits therefrom for the purpose of ascertaining Interest Owners' participation therein as hereinafter set forth. . . .

See Judge Bunnell's explanation in the FEBRUARY 8 TRANSCRIPT (v.18, p.2397).

If the retained net profits did not exceed a total of \$100,000 plus 150% of the costs and expenses incurred prior to a date of 25 tons per day capability, KERR-McGEE was not obliged to share profits, because profit sharing depended on satisfying that preceding condition.^{74/} Only if the performance of step four resulted in the recovery of the specified amounts, was KERR-McGEE obliged to take step five and share the net profits with the INTEREST OWNERS.

Thus the OPERATING AGREEMENT set forth five distinct steps leading to the possible development of a mine. KERR-

^{74/} OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section III (v.13, p.1549):

It is further understood that after Kermac and Mercury shall have received out of the net profits from all ores mined, produced, saved and sold from said claims a sum which shall be equal to 100% of One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$150,000) and 150% of all costs and expenses incurred by Kermac and Mercury in connection with the exploration, drilling, and development of said claims and the sinking and construction of said initial shaft, and reimbursement to Kermac and Mercury for all costs and expenses of equipping and developing said mine after completion of said shaft and prior to said date when the capability for mining and producing 25 tons of ore per day shall have been established as aforesaid, then Kermac and Mercury and Interest Owners shall share the net profits from all ores mined, after reimbursement to Kermac and Mercury of all costs and expenses of exploration, drilling, development, mining, operation and overhead of said claims as follows, to wit:

Interest Owners. . .	Forty (40) percent
Kermac.	Thirty (30) percent
Mercury.	Thirty (30) percent

McGEE's obligation to perform the next step, and the INTEREST OWNERS' right to insist upon performance, were contingent upon satisfaction of the preceding condition. The failure of the condition precedent eliminated the INTEREST OWNERS' chance to share profits.

Other provisions in the OPERATING AGREEMENT would have the same effect of relieving the parties of further rights and obligations. Section V of the OPERATING AGREEMENT required that once a mine was established, KERR-McGEE and MERCURY could not abandon it without the consent of the INTEREST OWNERS or without first offering to sell the mine to them.^{75/} The INTEREST OWNERS could purchase the mine or they could decline to do so. In either case, nothing further would remain to be done^{76/} and the

^{75/} See OPERATING AGREEMENT at Section V (v.13, p.1551).

^{76/} The CLOVIS BANKS' attack on the finding of the Trial Court that the abandonment of the BARDON MINE terminated the OPERATING AGREEMENT seems to misunderstand what Judge Bunnell did. (See CLOVIS BANKS' BRIEF at pp.28-30). All obligations, other than those pertaining to the BARDON MINE, had been satisfied. (See the ZITTING-ATLAS AFFIDAVIT (v.13, pp.1590-91)), which shows that although an attempt was made, no additional ore bodies were found. Those remaining obligations under the OPERATING AGREEMENT were performed when the BARDON MINE was abandoned in accordance with Section V. Judge Bunnell spells this out in Finding of Fact No. 30 in the SUMMARY JUDGMENT (v.15, p.2093):

Upon such abandonment the OPERATING AGREEMENT would terminate at the very least with respect to the operations abandoned, and when the operations abandoned are the only operations undertaken, the OPERATING AGREEMENT terminates in its entirety.

OPERATING AGREEMENT would be fully performed.^{77/}

Section VI of the OPERATING AGREEMENT required that KERR-McGEE and MERCURY obtain the consent of or offer the SUBJECT CLAIMS to the INTEREST OWNERS before "dropping" them by failing to perform the annual assessment work.^{78/} Once a claim was offered to the INTEREST OWNERS, KERR-McGEE and MERCURY had no further obligation with respect to that claim, whether or not the claim was conveyed to MERRILL, ABERNATHY and/or MERSFELDER or whether or not it was permitted to lapse.

2. The obligations to share profits and all other obligations under the AGREEMENTS were fully performed, and those AGREEMENTS are therefore no longer in effect.

The uncontested evidence presented to the Trial Court establishes that KERR-McGEE and MERCURY did exactly and

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